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The Transcendence of Time
Editor’s Note

Nowhere in Maslow’s hierarchy of needs is time mentioned.
"Time is money," but we pay for groceries with dollars and not
minutes. Objects can be seen and felt, but without time they
cannot be.

The ubiquity and transcendence of time are at the heart of the
variety of perspectives our writers took in this, our fourth issue.

In these poems and stories, time is a catalyst to action, or a
reason to decide against it; when turned around, time can be
hilarious.

In the close examination of a moment, it can reveal both
sweetness and sorrow.

And time can also create conflict - especially when too little
remains.

4



Literature, serious or silly, takes time to create, to curate, and to
enjoy. The moments we spend in the effort are surprisingly
rewarding. And when we spend them, we truly know their value.

Jan Lee, Editor-in-Chief

’
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Three Minutes to Midnight
Stewart MacKay

There were three minutes left of Christmas Day, and he hadn’t
achieved what he had set out to do. It was impossible now, but
those three minutes were still there. A lot could happen in that
period of time. A pop song. A poem. A bowl of soup in the
microwave.

What could he do though? His own parents were in bed,
presumably asleep. Janice would be asleep too, or at least lying
in bed listening to some depressing music. His clock didn’t go so
far as to count down the seconds, so he glanced at the time on his
locked phone screen. 11:57:32.

What would happen, really, once the scales on his old-fashioned
ticker board clock had flicked over, with a slightly louder clunk
than at any other time of the day, to show am12:00? Nothing.
Another day. The clock didn’t care that this day was any more
significant to millions of humans around the world. Time just
ticked on, past Christmases, past birthdays, past
anniversaries—happy and sad—into new years, into new
decades, new centuries and millennia, relentless.

Time doesn’t care, he realises. Time can’t care. Time has no
emotions. It doesn’t matter if, after three minutes, a human being
will experience absolute pleasure, or be subjected to
mind-bending pain. Time will arrive at the end of those three
minutes unbendingly, remorselessly, unthinkingly. Oh, to be like
time. Two minutes and ten seconds remained, the first ten
seconds of which he could have sworn moved faster than any ten
seconds ever had. Twitch. pm11:58.

So time couldn’t care less about his resolution, his need to have
done that one thing on Christmas Day. It didn’t matter that
anyone he could have told was now several miles away, or
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tucked safely in bed, and wouldn’t at all appreciate being woken
at this time of the night. It was hopeless; the moment had long
since passed. And yet, with those last two minutes on the clock,
everything still felt possible.

He hopped down from the bed, and heaved open his window. A
blast of cool air whipped around and past him, gleefully filling
the small bedroom. The curtains wafted, and curls of wrapping
paper rustled across the floor. He leaned on the windowsill, until
the top half of his body had emerged from the window. There
were lights still on down the street, in windows, flickering from
TV screens, wrapped around trees. Beyond their little village, up
and over that mountain, the city would still be ablaze with
electricity. People still awake, still alive. They would hear what
he was about to announce.

He'd say what he should have said around the table,
nonchalantly, between his dad asking for the gravy and his
mother asking if the turkey was too dry. But what would be the
point in yelling it out at the night sky? Where, if he was lucky, a
grand total of two people might hear it, and wonder for a second
what was going on, before shrugging and reaching for a box of
chocolates. That is, if his voice wasn’t simply whisked away by
the breeze. He was always being told to speak up.

He stepped back inside, and let the window drop with a thud.
The curtains fell limp, the house’s warmth began asserting itself
again. The room fell silent, save for a steadfast tick from his
bedside clock. pm11:59.

One minute left. Less now. Fifty-five seconds at most. He could
text them, he thought. A group message that said what he
couldn’t quite manage to say earlier that day, at the table, in one
of the lulls in conversation that had grown more frequent as the
meal dragged on past the turkey and towards the pudding. They
wouldn’t see the message until tomorrow morning though, and
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he hadn’t set himself the challenge of a Boxing Day
announcement. It wouldn’t count.

Thirty seconds to go. Finally the time remaining seemed tiny,
miniscule, too short for a pop song or a poem, except maybe a
haiku. Or a limerick. There was a young man in his bedroom….
Soup would barely be lukewarm after that short a time in the
microwave. Finally, he felt something inside him sink, the same
feeling he had felt nine hours before, as his family, one by one,
dragged their food-heavy bodies up and away from the table,
until it was just him left sitting there, in a yellow paper hat. Fat,
lazy, useless. He sat back on his bed, then curled up into a foetal
ball.

He reached for his phone, and propped it up against a pillow.
11:59:50. He couldn’t help but watch. Fifty-one. Fifty-two. He
heard his door click open, and he craned his neck to see. It was
his sister, a pair of headphones hanging around her neck.

‘Hey,’ Janice said. ‘You sleeping?’

‘No.’

‘You okay? You seemed a bit weird at dinner and I meant to,
like, ask.’ She then rolled her eyes, acknowledging how lame she
sounded.

‘Ummm…’

Above his head he heard the thunk, louder than all the others,
which meant that all four tickers had switched at once, revealing
a new day. am12:00 on Boxing Day. St. Stephen’s Day. The 26th
of December. A day of many names. A day of twenty-four hours,
of one thousand four hundred and forty minutes, of eighty six
thousand four hundred seconds, stretching out before him. He
felt a weight lifting.
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火龍果（Dragon Fruit）
Sara Tobias

My mother

sliced the fiery fruit

in half,

exposed the soft flesh

from the leathery skin,

and peeled the tenderness

away like scales.

I’m not hungry, she said.

You have it.

The red juice stained my lips,

greeted my mouth with sugar.

That’s how mothers show love,

I think.

They leave all the sweetness

for you.
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Inheritance
Ivan Stacy

The photograph is grainy, shades of grey and sepia. The hills of
Happy Valley look strangely bare for anyone who knows it these
days, a dark backdrop against which, in the centre, is the photo
finish: a blur of six or seven horses with Heavenly Hope being
pipped, by a nose, by This Year’s Luck.

In the foreground is the crowd, pressed up against the barriers,
their backs to the camera as they cheer on the horses. Except for
one. Hands in his pockets, turning back towards the camera from
under his hat, one man’s pale face can be seen.

I’ve looked and looked again, and I’m almost certain it’s
Morgan. His face is hard to make out, the features smudged. It
would be a strange thing to do, to turn and look back, just as This
Year’s Luck edged ahead in the final couple of furlongs, to beat
Heavenly Hope, a horse on which he’d put everything. But while
you can’t really make out his nose and mouth, there’s a feeling I
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can’t shake as I look at him, at the very split second he lost it all:
it seems to me that he’s smiling.

The photograph came to me as one of three, a mystery package
that appeared in my mailbox one Tuesday in an unmarked square
white envelope. One of the other photographs is a family
portrait, the whole Mau clan, including sufficiently high-ranking
in-laws, represented by at least four generations arrayed in two
rows. The other is a landscape shot, part of a fishing village, an
inlet between two sloping spits of land folding together, a path
curving away to the right in front of the sea, and a couple of
small boats on the water to the left.

They brought to mind other photos I’d seen, photos of photos on
the walls of the old family home on Peak Road, now long since
sold off. Ranks of Mau grandees filling the front and centre, with
the few remaining Frobishers pushed out to the margins.
Through the 1920s and 1930s, Grandma Luisa and Grandpa
Frederick (my great-great grandparents) are the focal point, her
stone-faced, him confident in his waistcoat and tie. From the late
1940s onwards it’s Luisa at the head, with Uncle Donald
invariably on her elbow, towering over her. Sara is next to him in
the earlier ones, but never much of a presence, and alas she also
disappears in the early ’50s. From then on, it’s Luisa and Donald
holding firm in the middle, the two pillars of the family in its
final generation of glory.

I’d never seen the family group shot or the fishing village, but
the horses and the crowd were familiar from somewhere. I
picture Grandma Luisa in the parlour, venting at the photo:

“This Year’s Luck! This year’s ruin!”

The image and the date are burned into Mau family lore: 9th
February 1955, fifth race on the card, in which the fortune built
by the family over a hundred years was lost at the moment This
Year's Luck nudged ahead of Heavenly Hope.
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She was long gone by the time I was born. But still I sense her
fury as I look at it:

“A hundred years!”

Behind Luisa, the decades are arrayed on the wall. But the end of
it all was captured in another image of one instant, the one that
came to me in a plain white envelope.

In reality, though, it wasn’t the horses that cost us everything.
Morgan knew that the races were too visible, and he was too well
known, so he kept his bets small, jumped up and down when his
horse came in and, more often, tore up his ticket and threw it in
the air with an exasperated “It was a dead cert!” each time he
lost. He liked a flutter, it was known. Just Morgan having his bit
of fun.

Were the races where it started? Who knows, but in the early
’50s, as Uncle Donald trusted him with larger portions of the
company, the business trips to Macau became more frequent.
Maybe the first was meant as a one off, perhaps with a lover, the
same feeling as skipping school. Chips down on the table; what
harm can a little flutter do? By the end, it was often enough that
he was greeted by name in the gambling houses, at least until he
was no longer welcome there and had to, by some accounts, ask
for credit at the less reputable establishments. But Uncle Donald
hadn’t seen it coming, and as he handed over more control to
Morgan, the debts must have mounted.

He hid it from Uncle Donald. He hid it from everyone, even
Luisa’s Medusa gaze. And when This Year’s Luck crossed the
line a nose in front of Heavenly Hope, he turned away from the
track and instead of his usual, cheerful ticket-tear and throw,
Robert later told us, he just placed his hands in his pockets,
raised his eyebrows, and said:
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“Well, that’s it.”

Nobody knew what he meant. But he couldn’t be found the next
day, or the day after and neither could Nellie, a distant cousin (no
blood relation, but only nineteen ). Those were the first inklings
of trouble, and then the phone calls started. Then more calls from
creditors, and when Uncle Donald – by now not as sharp as he
used to be, but he still knew the business – and Robert went into
the books, going line by line through Morgan’s looping cursive,
with its flourishes on the tails of the 2s and 3s and its long,
hanging 7s, they could only stare helplessly at the stark,
dwindling figures as the phone rang and rang behind them.

There was something about the photo finish that wouldn’t let me
go, and not just its status as an anti-icon, the moment of our
dynasty’s fall. I sat with it over a long beer one evening, puzzling
over Morgan’s odd maybe-smile. But there was also the photo
itself, grainy black and white, when a family like ours could have
afforded – would have made a point of affording – a colour
camera. And in fact I could recall clearly various Mau
photographs in technicolour from that last, post-war decade.
Frederick was gone by that time (too confident as it turned out;
the Japanese couldn’t be reasoned with), and Sara went early to
cancer, but there are other uncles and aunts posing in yellows
and mauves on the Peak. And there’s Robert, the only one still
around, one of those prematurely middle-aged children, serious
in his royal blue blazer, but already defeated.

It was only a few days later, pressed among commuters in the
MTR, somewhere between Hung Hom and Mong Kok East on
my way to Introduction to Macroeconomics, that I had a
lightbulb moment. Surely, I thought, they have to keep records of
photo finishes at the races. In case of disputes about winnings,
things like that. And anyway someone had to have taken the
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photo, surely they must keep copies, even from the pre-digital
’50s.

I found a number for the Happy Valley Racecourse, called it, and
was passed around for a while before they referred me to a Mr.
Lau in the Archives Section who might be able to help. Two days
later, a Thursday evening, I found myself walking past Hong
Kong Football Club and round the corner towards the blank rear
of the main grandstand, towards the site of my family’s ruin.

Mr. Lau received the photo from me with two hands, set it gently
on his desk, raised his glasses – held around his neck by a thin
silver chain – and placed them on his nose. First through the
thick lenses, then over them, then through them again, he
subjected it to his scrutiny. He picked it up by the edges and
tilted it toward him, the light from the fluorescent ceiling strip
catching it at this angle. Then he laid it back down, sighed,
removed his glasses and let them hang. He regarded me steadily.

“Photo finish, you say?” he said, with what I felt was a hint of
accusation.

“Yes,” I said. “Isn’t it?”

He turned the photo towards me.

“Which horse winning?”

It was my turn to lean forwards. This Year’s Luck had beaten
Heavenly Hope, of course, a fact carved in stone in family
legend. And of the front two horses, I’d thought This Year’s luck
to be the nearer of the two to the camera, but looking again, I
strained to separate the blurred muzzles of the two frontrunners.

“It’s not that clear…” I said.

“Not clear at all,” he said. “Not much good for photo finish.” He
pushed himself up from his chair, opened a drawer at the far side
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of the room, and pulled out several stills which he dropped in
turn on the desk in front of me. “Photo finish needs to be clear.”

Indeed, each of the black and white images in front of me
captured a split second in perfect clarity, the nose of each horse
measurable against the others along the white vertical line of the
finish. I was probably frowning.

“This isn’t photo finish,” he said, picking up my photo. Then
pointing back at the stills he’d dropped, he added: “Look at
these. No crowd.” Turning his attention to my photo again, he
tapped the pale face, which was possibly smiling, of the man
who may or may not be Morgan Mau. “In yours the less blur part
is this man.”

The face was hard to make out, but compared with the fuzzy
mess of the horses and the limbs of the other spectators, it now
appeared to me as the still centre of the image. Mr. Lau
continued, “If I have to guess, I don’t think it’s photo of horses.”
He held his nicotine-stained index finger just under the pale,
turning face. “It’s photo of him.”

Back in my apartment, I looked at the family photo again, trying
to match the man in the non-photo-finish shot with the image of
the man who is definitely Morgan.

He’s in the back row, all the way to the right. There’s a bit of a
gap between him and the next family member, a middle-aged
woman who I don’t recognise. Nellie is in the front row, in her
early teens I’d guess, so slight she’s barely there except for the
chunky camera hanging around her neck. Perhaps a recent
birthday present that she poutingly refused to relinquish for the
photograph? She has a look of defiance, as if challenging the
photographer to do better with his than she knew she could with
hers.
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Why Morgan rather than the horses? And why black and white
rather than colour?

Wong’s camera shop felt like a time capsule. When I opened the
door, the movement triggered a small brass bell. At first I’d
thought the shop was empty. A few rays of light came through
the shuttered windows, catching the dust floating on the air in the
long room. Vintage cameras of various shapes and sizes sat on
the shelves that lined the small room from waist- to
shoulder-height.

I started when I caught movement at the far end. As my eyes
adjusted, I made out the figure of a man I assumed to be Mr.
Wong. “Can I help you?” he asked in a voice clearer and louder
than I expected in the silence of the shop. When I told him I was
looking for help with regard to an old photo, he stood quickly,
took it from me with much less ceremony that Mr. Lau had done,
and stood over it. With his two hands placed palms down either
side of it, a bright desk lamp illuminating the image, he said,
“Taken in 1955, you say?”

“Yes,” I said. “As far as I know.”

“Well, it isn’t typical for 1950s photography,” he said. “You had
colour by then, and hand-held cameras, even though they were
heavy.” He took a few steps out from behind his desk, squeezing
past me, lifted a camera from one of the shelves and handed it to
me. It was black, weighty, with a metal lens and bezels on the
top. “You could get a sharp enough colour photo with one of
these,” he said. “Not cheap enough that everyone was running
around with one, but not an unheard-of luxury either.”

“Strange,” I said. “They would’ve had the latest thing, I’m sure.
And I’ve seen colour photos…”
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He shrugged. “Well, either the photo is older than you think, or it
was taken with some sort of vintage model.”

“Wait,” I said, and went into my bag for the family photo. I laid
it on the desk next to the not-photo-finish and pointed to Nellie
and her chunky camera round her neck. “Something like this?”

“Ha,” he said, strode across the room, and grabbed another
camera with both hands which he then thrust at me. “Something
very much like this.” It was one of those old cameras with a sort
of black, leathery concertina lens coming out of the box that you
held. “Kodak six-16,” he said. “Early 1930s.” He pointed back
down at the blur of Happy Valley, the horses, the moment it all
collapsed. “And it’d give you something like this.”

So rebellious Nellie, now nineteen and old enough to know her
mind (or at least so she thought), takes her favourite vintage
Kodak to the races, has it at the ready, follows This Year’s Luck
and Heavenly Hope as they go neck and neck down the straight
… then pans ahead to Morgan, holds him steady through the
viewfinder – no casual quick snap with a Kodak six-16 – as he
faces her, smiling? Behind him, two horses cross the line a split
second apart and in doing so bring down a dynasty of
generations, but there’s Nellie taking a picture of Morgan, calm
as you like. Almost as if … it was all part of a plan?

I met Robert one evening in Causeway Bay (“It’ll have to be
after work – at lunch they barely give us time to shovel a bowl of
rice down our throats”) and we struggled with the initial
pleasantries while sidestepping our way through throngs of
shoppers, with traffic and adverts blaring all around. We looped
our way out of the back of the shopping streets, and after a few
twists and turns we were among the quieter low-rises of Tai
Hang where he pushed open the door to a small bar.
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He slipped off the shapeless black jacket and nodded to the
barman, who set a bottle of Gweilo in front of him almost before
we’d sat.

“I’ll have the same,” I said, as the quiet and the weight of the
coming conversation filled the room. He met my initial questions
with short replies, rubbing his eyes and sighing, and giving every
impression that he saw the whole thing as a waste of time.

“He cost the family everything and now his name’s mud. What
else is there to say?”

For the first twenty minutes, I made no headway and was
thinking about how best to beat an honourable retreat when I first
mentioned Nellie. Immediately he sat back, his face and upper
body relaxing, as he looked towards the ceiling.

“Ah, Nellie.”

A soft spot?

He took a long swig from his bottle, emptying it, and held it up
to signal for another. He leant forward, although he looked
towards the wall rather than me.

“Nellie was an interesting one. You know her mother was an
adoptee? An orphan back in Lancashire. A branch of the
Frobishers took her in before they came out to Hong Kong. I’m
hazy on the exact details but yes, Nellie wasn’t actually blood to
either the Frobishers or the Maus. They all treated her well
enough as far as I know, apart from the usual snobbery. I mean,
she wasn’t made to scrub the floors while the other sisters went
to the ball or anything.”

“So what was her relationship with Morgan?” I asked.

“That’s the question,” he said. “You can imagine the rumours.
She was pregnant, they had to hide it, et cetera. But I don’t go for
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that theory because there are ways of dealing with that kind of
thing without bringing the entire family down. Or that she was
after Morgan’s money, and somehow the gambling was part of
an elaborate cover for them to take off with a chunk of the Mau
family fortune. But I don’t buy that either.”

“Why not?”

“Well, when Donald went into the books, everything was
documented. Morgan hid his gambling and the losses, but he
hadn’t been sloppy about the bookkeeping. In fact, it’s almost as
if he wanted us to see where every last dollar had gone, sort of
rubbing salt into the wound …”

“But?” I said.

“But. I don’t think he and Nellie ran off with chests stuffed full
of cash. You see, the thing about Morgan was he hated the
money. People assume he must have been greedy, or flash, but as
far as I can see he never was. Entitled maybe, as much as anyone
born into money is – he never had to set his emails to send on a
three-hour delay to pretend he was still working up to bed time.”

He half-lifted his phone, as if the weight of his inbox was too
much to think about.

“But he wasn’t one to be driving around in a Ferrari or buying
Prada handbags for some fancy piece, or even expensive suits for
himself.”

“So he wasn’t flashy.”

“No, he wasn’t. But it was more than that. I mean, he hated it.
You know, it was only one comment I overheard. But sometimes
just one little thing tells you an awful lot about someone. And
when I think about everything else he did in light of that, it all
makes some kind of sense. More than the pregnancy theories
anyway.”
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“And what was the comment?”

“I was only a kid at the time. He and Uncle Donald had taken on
a new accountant. Some smart-looking fresh graduate. Not sure
if it was his first day, but he was brand new and they were
showing him the ropes. Donald had this ritual of inviting new
employees to tea in the house on Peak Road, to show them the
grandeur of the Mau empire they were entering as a mere foot
soldier, I suppose. I must have been pottering around the place
while all this was going on.”

I pictured Donald, puffed up in front of the gallery of photos,
explaining when the first Mau warehouse was opened, how
much they made in the 1890s, the size of the company by the
time Frederick took the helm, and so on. Going through the
whole history of the Maus, who stood arrayed on the wall, their
faces proud, stern, sometimes awkward and, in Morgan’s case,
what?

Robert drew breath for what I hoped would be the revelation.

“My memory is of them standing together, looking out of one of
the big windows with the view down over the harbour. I’m not
sure if I’d been creeping around or if Morgan just didn’t care
who heard him. But he said to the accountant, ‘You know how
the Maus got their start?’

“The accountant either had no idea or knew he wasn’t supposed
to answer, so Morgan carried on. ‘It was Frobisher money,
originally. The Maus married into it, then sort of out-bred them
and took over.’ He didn’t speak bitterly, exactly, but more
sharply, as if he wanted to hack down a tree blow by blow. I
imagine the accountant must have been pretty uneasy, but
Morgan pressed on. ‘And do you know how the Frobishers got
their start?’”
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Robert looked at me at this point, as if I had become that
accountant by the window in the house on Peak Road eighty
years before.

Like the accountant, I sensed that my job was to keep quiet and
wait for the answer.

“The Frobishers,” said Robert, “had interests in India and South
China.”

He cleared his throat, giving me a chance to interject. I had no
idea what might be expected, so I allowed him to continue.

“And how do you suppose a British business made its money in
Canton in the late eighteen hundreds?”

Again, he looked up at me, and again I waited.

“Let me give you a clue,” said Robert. “It wasn’t cotton. And it
wasn’t tea.”

“Ah,” I said.

“So you see,” said Robert, “Morgan hated it all. Didn’t want any
of it.”

Morgan Mau, gambling away the family fortune, not out of
addiction or greed, but to wash away the stain?

“You think he lost it all on purpose?” I asked.

Robert shrugged, looked away again. He was no longer
reflective, just closed off. Then he picked up his phone and
gathered his jacket in a bundle under his arm. “Delayed-send
emails to write,” he said, stood, nodded at the barman, and left
me with the check.
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I laid the three photographs out in front of me again, although the
fold-out table in my Jordan walk-up wasn’t big enough to set
them out without overlapping them slightly. If Morgan Mau had
bet it all on This Year’s Luck rather than Heavenly Hope, would
I be gazing down from the Peak, lording it over Victoria Harbour
and the rest of Hong Kong Island rather than standing at a plastic
table, looking through a tiny window at the laundry hanging a
few metres away on the other side of Parkes Street?

Here was Morgan, the two horses and the rest of the pack in a
blur, the not-photo-finish, a split second in Happy Valley, the
moment the cracks in the dam gave way and a torrent of debt
buried a hundred-year dynasty. And here were the generations of
Maus and Frobishers, and Nellie and her camera.

And there was the third photo, shades of indistinct grey – taken,
perhaps, with a 1930s Kodak six-16 – a view of a fishing village,
the shot completely empty of people unless someone was hidden
from sight aboard one of the two fishing boats or in one of the
houses.

The third photo looked back at me, mute. It could be any of those
fishing-type places. Cheung Chau or Lamma or Tai O. Or
somewhere in the New Territories, out Sai Kung way. Despairing
of pinpointing a location from a single image, I turned to Google.

“How to work out location from photograph,” I typed.

Google duly led me to a game called Geoguessr, which requires
you to do exactly what I was attempting: from the ground-level
photos taken by Google’s roving cameras, you have to work out
where it is and put a pin on the map, and the closer your guess to
the actual location, the higher your score. From there, the
internet funnelled me to YouTube and to various Geoguessr
channels, where expert players are able, from just a single still,
to drop their pin within a few kilometres of the correct spot.

“INSANE score on Geoguessr.”
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“Best Geoguessr game EVER (no moving attempt)!!”

I watched Geoguessr videos deep into the night, picking up hints
and tips, how to scan roads signs for alphabet and language, to
check which side of the road any cars are driving on, to look for
brand names on adverts, the angle of the sun, distant mountains
and other features.

I waited for morning and better light to look at the third
photograph afresh. I tried to unsee, not simply to affirm what I’d
already thought I’d seen, and to come at it as if for the first time.
With soft eyes and a strong black coffee, I scanned it again,
trying to allow new details in. There was still an inlet, with a
couple of fishing boats and a shore-side path curving off to the
right and out of shot.

I allowed my eyes to drift out of focus, and in doing so the blur
of the sea and the horizon became a little more than a blur, the
grey a bit heavier, a smudge of something between water and
sky? Land, perhaps?

I looked at the shadows cast by the boats and by the stilts on the
jetty. They had some length to them, so it was taken in the
morning or evening, and the shadows were coming roughly
towards the position of the camera. So if it was morning, the
photographer (is that you, Nellie?) was facing east, and if
evening, facing west. Instinct, and perhaps the softness of the
light in the photo – although that might just have been the age of
the camera and the photo – told me it was evening.

Evening, facing west from a fishing village, with land in the
distance? I zoomed in and out of the map on my phone, scanning
across Hong Kong Island, Lantau, and up into the inlets of the
New Territories. From somewhere on Lamma across to Lantau,
maybe? But that felt too close for the smudge on the horizon.
Some part of Sai Kung, facing back in across a bay, also seemed
too tight. Was it one of those tiny, impossible-to-get-to islands?
Again, none of the distances and angles quite seemed to work.
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Looking up, I realised I was hunched and tense, and leant back
while loosening my neck and shoulders. I inadvertently zoomed
out from my map as I did, bringing into view the whole of the
Pearl River region, the string of cities running counter-clockwise
from Hong Kong: Shenzhen, Dongguan, Guangzhou, Zhuhai,
and finally Macau.

Morgan Mau and his Trips to Macau. It has the ring of a nursery
rhyme to be passed down the generations as a warning against
profligacy and degeneracy. In another world, the one where
Heavenly Hope kept his nose in front for a split-second longer
through the last furlong, Grandma Luisa might have sat a
few-months-old member of the clan on her knee and chanted it
into the child’s ear. She would have meant it as a joke, mostly,
but the incantation would have carried with it the threat of a
hundred years of misfortune should her wishes be disobeyed.

As it was, the curse struck before the warning could be given and
Morgan Mau’s trips to Macau weren’t discovered until too late.

With a start, I looked back at the photo. Was the dark smudge in
fact Macau, or even mainland China? Part of Macau or Zhuhai in
the distance? Morgan no longer had the funds or inclination to
jump on the ferry, but was happy to sit in… well, wouldn’t that
make it Tai O? Was he looking out at the sun setting over the
hopes and dreams of the Grand Lisboa and the Cotai Strip?

I had a full week of revision classes before end-of-semester
exams, so it wasn’t until the following weekend that I was able
to take the MTR out to Tung Chung. A Cathay-liveried flight
was taking off ahead on the right as we came into the station. I
took the minibus on to Tai O.

I found a spot for a coffee first, and drank it with the photo in
front of me, now feeling impatient and regretting delaying my
search. As the lady running the café came past and glanced at it,
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I thought to ask her if she could help me. She squinted at it, then
shook her head.

I walked around the village, looking out west, mentally removing
houses that could have been built since, trying to see through
them for the right arrangement of hills, water and coastline.
Getting hotter and sweatier, I stopped to ask for help once or
twice, but received only more uncertain squinting, more shakes
of the head. I walked out of the village, up a hill and onto a
promontory, then down the other side and paused between a
couple of houses. I took off my backpack and unzipped it to take
out my bottle of water. I took a swig, then another, and replaced
the cap. Then I looked back up, and there it was.

The hills coming down on either side, the path curving away to
the right. Land visible across the water to the west, a couple of
houses along the path and a few fishing boats bobbing on the
swell.

There were only three dwellings at this junction in the path,
fewer than the impression given by the photo. One was now
obviously derelict, while the other two stood in silence.

I opened the gate to the one on my right, the one closest to the
position where the photo would have been taken. I walked up the
path, noting small beds of flowers and herbs on either side, and
knocked on the door, unsure if I wanted anyone to open it. I was
met only by silence. As I bent down and to my right to try to see
through the window, I jumped at the sound of a door opening
behind me.

An ancient woman, like a gatekeeper of classical myth, stood
staring at me.

“I’m looking for someone,” I said, holding the photo up before
realising that there was nobody actually visible in the picture;
anyway, she made no attempt to look at it.
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I put my cards on the table.

“I’m looking for Morgan Mau,” I said. “And Nellie Frobisher.
I’m Morgan’s grandson.” I produced the two other photos, which
she also ignored as she came towards me, pushed past me, and
drew from her apron pocket a key which she jiggled and turned
in the lock.

She pointed towards the door handle and withdrew.

I expected the door to creak open and to have to push my way in
through spiders’ webs, but it swung inwards in silence.

More light was coming into the room than I expected. I felt the
weight of time there, but the space was clean and neat.

The first thing I saw distinctly was the camera, and then I knew
for sure. Sitting on a small round wooden table in the far corner
was one of those old cameras, one of the ones with a sort of
concertina lens coming out of a box that you held. A Kodak
six-16.

Then I saw, on all four walls, the photographs. All grainy sepia,
the story of two lives unfolding around the room.

There they are, young and still freshly on the run, both sporting
new haircuts, Morgan in a short-sleeved shirt and Nellie in a
plain summer dress. Here they are, standing in front of the house,
one on either side of the door. Many images contain only one of
the pair: Morgan bending over the plant beds in the garden,
Nellie holding up a small birthday cake.

As I worked my way around the room, and even though the
trusty old Kodak and photography plates smooth out the
wrinkles, they nevertheless age, degree by degree. Nellie leaning
on Morgan’s shoulder, a little tired around the eyes; Morgan with
his hands in the small of his back, stretching after a spell with his
plants.
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In one, and one only, they become bolder, Morgan mugging for
the camera – “I really shouldn’t be here, should I?” – in front of
the art deco curves of the Grand Lisboa. Apart from that, they
never seem to stray far from the house in Tai O, tending the
plants, sharing meals, walking out along the path towards the
sunset, as the years tick by.

The decades arrayed on the wall, and the coming end captured in
the images of a series of instants. On the final wall, to the right
of the door where I came in, there comes a point when there’s no
more Nellie. In the last image of her, they’re together, her head
on his shoulder again, her eyes gentle. Then there are just a few
more of Morgan with his plants, and the very last one is his face
alone in the frame, undeniably old now, his features collapsing
and his hair a little windswept, but his eyes still bright and facing
the lens directly.

Beneath this final photo, on another small round wooden table,
the twin of the one on which the Kodak sits, is an unmarked
square white envelope.

Inside, this time, there are no photos, but a single sheet of writing
paper with a few lines of his looping, cursive handwriting. It
reads as follows:

“To the first surviving descendent of Luisa and Frederick Mau
and / or Donald and Sara Mau born after 9th February 1955 to
find this letter:

“On the one and only condition, that you have not ever and will
not ever enter into or profit from the Mau family business, I
hereby bequeath to you this house and all of its contents as your
inheritance.

“Morgan Mau, 12th January 2023.”

This is followed by a witness signature and the requisite stamps.
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I stand here, looking out of the window towards the evening light
on the water, and the path curving away to the right of the inlet,
and I picture old Morgan Mau writing, slowly, with all the time
in his world, adding with a flourish a long tail on the final 3, then
the full stop, then folding it and placing it in the envelope and
placing the envelope on the table. And it seems to me that he’s
smiling.

’
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Ballad of the Stone
Sam Powney

Once, upon a mountain walk
I rested on a handsome rock.
“Old stone,” I said, “how many a year,
have you lain in this biosphere?
How many epochs in this place
have passed before your granite face
as ceaseless scenes upon a stage,
since, what, the late Triassic age?
Or are you from the Paleozoic?
Forgive my ignorance, old stoic.
But what a miracle that man
can measure the entire span
since born amongst volcanic tuff
You took the igneous form…”

“Enough!”

a voice exclaimed. I started back
and tensed as with a heart attack.
At length I quavered, “Who was that?”

“Tis I, old stoic, you pompous prat,”
the voice went on, with deep derision
though nothing moved before my vision.
“My spirit can no longer brook
its scorn of rantings so mistook.
By all means hold your theories
of little men if you so please,
but I resent your weaving me
into such base chronology.
To hear my person thus included
in human nonsense so deluded –
it really grates against my grain
and causes me peculiar pain,
as when one of my smaller kin
gets lodged inside your moccasin.
How arrogantly you suppose
that time like Zeno’s river flows.
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There’s no such change from my perspective,”
he curtly ended his invective.

I scarcely knew which greater shock
to reel from – that this sapient rock
could speak my language, or his views,
which all my learning so abused.

“Wise boulder,” I at length replied,
“forgive my scientific pride,
but surely you do not dispute
my species’ knowledge absolute
of progress and of time’s elapse…”

“It may strike you that way perhaps,”
the stone cut in, “But I don’t see
such signs of temporality.
You living creatures pass me by –
you’re born, you blossom, wither, die...
it’s all the same, in spring or fall;
you’ve seen one year, you’ve seen them all.”

“I see,” I said, and quickly hastened
to be polite, though sorely chastened.
“And by what name shall I address
the vessel of such rare sagesse?”

“Call me Peter if you want.”
He used a tone most nonchalant.

“Well, Peter, I’m most curious
how t’is you speak our language thus.”

“We stones are very quick with tongues,”
he said, “and there are those among
your kind who pass this way each year.
Some talk, some leave their markings here.
Yes, oftentimes when nature calls
the issue on poor Peter falls.
And one young man…shall I be frank?
no, stay, there is no need to yank
yourself away like one possessed.
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These scenes, at least as you’d profess,
passed in a bygone century
or in the future, as may be.
And time has washed all stain away –
if you believe in yesterdays.”

I recomposed myself with haste
and conquered my pronounced distaste.
“Yet, in your state so solitary
you practice our vocabulary.
For with whom else can you converse?
Our absence must weigh as a curse.”

“Not in the least,” the stone retorted,
“You’ve got the universe distorted
by thinking man preeminent
among your fellow residents.
The wagtail’s poetry is wasted
upon an ego so inflated.
The harmony of manatees
is finer than your symphonies,
but you could never understand
expressions of a scale so grand.
As for the intercourse I share
with fellow rocks and streams and air,
the content’s simply too profound
to translate into human sound,
though there are some of your kind who
have fathomed it, and will, and do.

“Well, Pete, if I may call you that,”
I answered, “It was nice to chat.
“You’ve humbled me and all my race,
but though you claim a timeless space,
yet I’ll bestow a souvenir,
of such a nature ’twould appear,
was never yet by human left
upon your noble lithic heft.

So saying I scanned the scenery
and seeing nought but greenery,
I quickly dropped my hiking shorts
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and squatted with my knees athwart
to make a solid demonstration
of Newton’s precepts and causation.

“What, Pete, no further oratory
to greet my proof posteriori?
Though I confess you’re better suited
to stay in stony silence muted.”

This said, I bid dear Pete adieu
and started off for scenes anew,
while vowing ne’er to speak my mind
again to ought but humankind.

’
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Are We Too Late?
Henry Lowe

Carl was already sound asleep when the pager attached to his
waistband beeped. Reluctantly, he left his rosy dream of a buffet
dinner with his wife, and returned to the reality of the dimly lit
office where he was taking respite after a difficult caesarean. The
luminous dial on his wristwatch indicated 2:10 am. He stretched
out his hand for the telephone beside the sofa and dialled the
unfamiliar number shown on his pager.

The voice that answered was that of his first call resident, Nikki.
“Carl, urgent consultation at A&E. Come to cubicle 6 right away.
I think we have a ruptured ectopic in shock!”

In an instant, Carl was fully awake. He ran down the three flights
of stairs to the A&E department on the hospital’s ground floor.
Even at this time of the day, it was business as usual: entering
through the swing doors to the hall-like space, he found scores of
people waiting on the benches to his right, with a couple of
nurses busily working at the triage station in the middle. Several
occupied stretchers and wheelchairs lay in the surrounding
corridors, waiting to be brought either to the wards or to vacated
cubicles. To his left were eight cubicles, each hidden behind
drawn curtains.

He found cubicle 6 quickly and asked, “Nikki, you here?”

“Come in, Carl!”

He pulled back the curtain. Lying on the bed was a
blanket-draped teenaged girl with her eyes closed, pale as a
sheet, taking shallow, rapid breaths. Nikki leaned over her right
side, trying desperately to insert an intravenous cannula into a
vein in her forearm. The two puncture holes on the back of the
girl’s hand and lower forearm told Carl that this was Nikki’s
third attempt. On the other side stood Paul, a colleague from the
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A&E department, who was attaching gum labels to three blood
specimen tubes and writing on the request forms, including a
blood typing and cross-matching form. Bending over the
teenager’s pelvis was a petite nurse, pressing with her whole
body weight on a wad of gauze over the patient’s left groin. Carl
then knew that they had only managed to obtain blood specimens
from the femoral vein coming from the leg. This meant that other
peripheral veins were collapsed, inaccessible for blood sampling.
A sure sign of shock.

Nikki started to report without looking up from her task, “Ying,
age 15, no history obtained, found unconscious at home about an
hour ago and brought here in a taxi by her parents Mr. and Mrs.
Tang.”

Paul continued, “Already in shock at presentation about eight
minutes ago. No history of trauma, nor evidence of external
bleeding. Rectal examination and Ryle’s rube aspiration are
negative.” He looked up at Carl. “Take a look at her abdomen!”
He took over from the nurse the task of applying pressure with
the gauze wad on the femoral vein. At the same time, he
motioned to the nurse to send the blood specimens straight to the
laboratory.

“Got it!” Nikki shouted. She had successfully inserted the
intravenous cannular, connecting the free end to a three-way
valve, and begun running in a solution of normal saline.
Glancing at the clock hanging on the wall, Nikki declared, “IV
saline started full rate at 2:18!” Paul responded, “Noted, NS full
rate 02:18,” and made an entry in the notes.

Carl turned to the anxious-looking middle-aged couple standing
near the head of the bed. The man was in his early fifties: short,
overweight, slightly balding, wearing a crumpled shirt and slacks
which were at least a size too large. He had a hassled look and
was clearly distressed. The woman by his side was a bit taller,
older than her husband. She was wearing a smart dress, but
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wrinkles were showing through her hurriedly applied makeup.
Carl wondered what kind of person would take the time to dress
up and put on makeup before bringing her unconscious daughter
to the hospital in the middle of the night. She displayed a
commanding air, and was looking at the medical staff with a
surprising degree of defiance. Her eyes betrayed considerably
less concern than her husband’s for their unconscious daughter.
From the way she positioned herself in front of her husband, it
was clear who the boss in the family was.

Carl addressed them after checking the patient folder. “You are
Mr. and Mrs. Tang, her parents?” They nodded. “I believe my
colleagues have explained to you what they suspected was
happening with your daughter. I am now going to examine her.”
In his peripheral vision, Carl spotted fury returning to Mrs.
Tang’s eyes. Carl peeled away the blanket and exposed the
partially undressed teenager. Her blouse was pulled up to the
level of her rib cage, while her jeans were down at her pelvic
bones. Carl could see that, even at 15, Ying was well developed
with a shapely figure. However, her pale, distended abdomen
bulged at the flanks, at odds with her body frame.
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With more than five years of experience on the job and due to sit
the Specialist Exit Assessment Examination soon, Carl could
make a spot diagnosis immediately. Nevertheless, he bent down
and gently felt the abdomen, confirming the soft, bulging flanks.
Ying stirred slightly from the pain. He then began tapping the
skin with his fingers, starting from the midline and working his
way over to her right side. Then, turning the body almost ninety
degrees to her left, he tapped again from the midline toward the
right flank, revealing a clear extension of the resonant sound.

Carl straightened and shifted his gaze from the teenager to her
parents. He had expected both parents to be gravely concerned.
However, while the father was clearly worried, the mother
showed more bewilderment, disbelief, and confusion.

“I’m afraid your daughter has free-moving fluid in her abdomen.
Given her age, the lack of any medical history which you can
provide, and the way she presents, this free fluid is most likely
coming from a source of bleeding occurring inside her abdomen.
We call this condition internal bleeding. I suspect there are
probably two litres or more of blood in her tummy. To save her
life, we must operate on her right away!”

Before Carl could explain further, Mrs. Tang interrupted with a
series of rapid questions: “What do you mean by internal
bleeding? What could have caused it? What do you mean when
you say you’re going to operate on her?” Mrs. Tang did not
appear to accept Carl’s diagnosis.

Without moving his eyes from the parents, Carl addressed the
nurse who had returned after sending off the blood specimens,
“BP and pulse?”

“BP 86 over 55, pulse 116,” the nurse read from the monitor.

Fixing his gaze on Mrs. Tang, Carl said calmly but in an urgent
tone, “Let me explain the most critical issues first. Her blood
pressure and pulse rate indicate that Ying is in shock. The

40



clinical features indicate that shock is most likely due to bleeding
from an internal organ which is injured or damaged, and the
blood is collecting inside her tummy. The internal bleeding and
shock explain the swelling in her tummy, and the shifting
dullness I demonstrated to you just now provides the clinical
evidence. This form of internal bleeding is most likely coming
from a ruptured ectopic or tubal pregnancy, since there are no
other obvious explanations for the bleeding. If it is allowed to
continue, it will kill her.”

Carl paused for some seconds to allow his message to sink in
before he gestured with his right hand over the teenager’s
abdomen and explained, “This is an emergency and we have no
time to waste. We have to cut open the tummy wall, drain the
blood collected inside, find the source, and stop the bleeding.
This usually involves tying, cutting, and removing the affected
part, most likely a ruptured uterine tube.”

This was followed by a moment of deathly silence before the
couple spoke almost simultaneously.

The father asked in a faint voice “What do you mean by…”, but
he was cut short by the loud and angry voice of the mother.

“An operation that cuts open her tummy!? Why? That will leave
an ugly scar! How could she face people in the future? I am sure
there are other ways. Can’t you give her medication to stop the
bleeding? Or do keyhole surgery instead?”

“In her current condition, the simplest and safest way is to cut
open the tummy and stop the bleeding as quickly as possible. We
must operate on her as soon as possible because active bleeding
from a ruptured ectopic pregnancy is very dangerous. It cannot
be treated with medication!”

By now, the parents were visibly shaken, but the mother
recovered quickly. Wringing her hands, she exclaimed, “What do
you mean by an ectopic pregnancy? How dare you accuse my
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daughter of getting herself pregnant? We are devout Catholics. I
am a schoolmistress, and my daughter is a good girl! How dare
you accuse her of behaving improperly!”

Carl was used to handling unreasonable patients and their family
members. He looked steadily at the mother. In a quiet voice, he
replied, “When was her last menstrual period?”

At this moment, the nurse interrupted urgently, “BP 70 over 40,
pulse 126.”

Then without waiting for the mother to answer, Carl addressed
Nikki, “Inform the operating theatre that we have an urgent
laparotomy. Get the senior anaesthetist to prepare for
resuscitation. Are the consent forms ready?”

Paul looked up from a bedside gadget and interrupted, “Bedside
test shows haemoglobin of 6. I will start transfusion as soon as
blood is available. I’ve requested 4 units but there may not be
sufficient samples to cross-match 4 units. I’ve also requested
some group O Rh negative blood if available!”

Nikki’s pager sounded repeatedly. She checked the number and
turned to Carl, “I have to reassess someone in the labour ward. In
case I’m held up in the delivery, I’ll send in Joy the intern to
help.” Carl nodded and replied, “Do what you have to do!” As
Nikki left in a hurry, Carl made a sincere plea to the parents,
“Mr. and Mrs. Tang, there are only two of us in the hospital
covering both obstetric and gynaecological patients. There’s no
time to waste, and we can’t be held up here. Your daughter needs
surgery immediately, and because she’s a minor we need your
consent. Even if she were fully conscious, we’d still need your
consent for surgery. Please help us to save her!”

The mother now appeared indignant. “On what grounds can you
say that my daughter is pregnant? She has irregular menses, and
I can’t remember when her last period was. She is a good student
in a girls’ school and has never had a boyfriend. She has severe
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cramps whenever her period comes. I am sure this time is
similar, and she has just fainted from the pain. In fact, she had
some spotting this morning. Her period is probably coming
today.” Mrs. Tang’s face was livid.

Mr. Tang, now in a deathly pallor, spoke in a voice that seemed
to emanate from the bottom of a well, “Ying always comes home
after school or her extracurricular activities. She’s never spent a
night away from home.”

Carl turned to the nurse and asked, “Got any urine for testing?”

Paul replied as he pumped the saline into Ying’s vein, “We
couldn’t obtain a urine specimen. I’m going to insert a bladder
catheter to collect a sample for testing and monitor the urine
output to determine her response to fluid replacement.” The
nurse quickly fetched a bladder catheterisation set.

Carl shook his head at the parents. “This is a matter of life and
death for your daughter. There is no insult or disrespect to you or
Ying, and we’re not here for any moral judgement. We are here
only to save lives. We will do some more tests, but any further
delay in treating the bleeding could be lethal. You can see that
her heart rate is getting faster and faster!”

The nurse was just leaving to test the urine sample collected
from the catheter. Carl asked her to bring the portable ultrasound
machine from the treatment room.

The parents were becoming more agitated. Fear was now written
in the father’s eyes.

“Doctors, the dipstix test result!” The nurse held up the plastic
dipstix against the printed label on the bottle, where the colour
changes were shown for easy reference. The two doctors looked
at it and then at each other.
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“Mrs. Tang, I’m afraid the pregnancy test is positive!” Carl faced
the couple. He quickly squirted some jelly onto Ying’s abdomen
and grabbed the probe of the small portable ultrasound machine
the nurse had just brought in. He smeared the jelly across the
girl’s abdomen. In an instant, shifting, flaky displays of black,
grey, and white appeared on the screen. Carl made a systematic
survey of the abdomen as he pointed with his fingers to the white
lines and grey and black shadows on the screen. “You can see the
tummy wall here. Here are the bowels, and the dark areas are
fluid collected in the tummy. So, I can confirm with the
ultrasound that Ying has a large collection of fluid inside her
tummy. I am almost a hundred percent sure that she has a
ruptured ectopic pregnancy!”

“BP 82 over 50, pulse 132,” the nurse announced.

“Third bottle of saline started. I’m now commencing colloid
infusion. The blood bank just called – they don’t have any group
O negative blood available now, so the transfusion can only be
given when the first matched unit is available,” Paul explained.

As he was putting away the ultrasound machine, Carl appealed
urgently to the parents. “It’s critical; we must operate on Ying
now. A further delay will be disastrous. We cannot start blood
transfusion until matched blood is available, and the fluids we’re
giving her now are temporary measures. The continuing blood
loss cannot be compensated by the intravenous fluids, and her
increasing heart rate means that her blood loss is getting more
and more severe. If the shock continues, and especially if it
worsens, her heart may stop, and she could die. Even if her life is
spared, her brain could suffer from the effects of shock and she
may not wake up. Or, once she wakes up, she could experience
lasting damage. Please sign the consent for anaesthesia and
surgery now so we can save her. Feel free to ask me any
questions now or later.”
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Then glancing at the clock, Carl added, “It is now 2:40 am, 22
minutes since we began fluid replacement. She’s deteriorating. It
will take some ten minutes to get from here to the operation
table, so we can’t afford to waste more time!” The mother was
silent, inert, staring at her daughter’s supine form in disbelief.
The father took the consent forms with shaking hands and started
reading.

Just then an alarm came from the blood pressure monitor. Paul
shouted, “Cardiac arrest, 02:41h!” He started chest compression
while the nurse dashed outside the curtain and returned with a
resuscitation set. Carl leapt onto the bed, kneeling over Ying, and
took over the chest compression from Paul. Paul opened the
resuscitation set, took out a plastic tube and inserted it into
Ying’s mouth. After securing it in place with tapes, he held a
large black bag connected to a triangular rubber mask, which he
placed over Ying’s mouth and nose, and started squeezing the
bag, carefully timed with Carl’s chest compression efforts. Two
more nurses appeared from nowhere and joined in the
resuscitation, one taking over from Carl while the other tended to
the intravenous infusion.

As Carl climbed down from the bed, he said coldly to the
parents, “You’ve wasted too much time!” Then, ignoring them,
he released the brakes on the wheels of the bed and, together
with the third nurse, he wheeled it out of the cubicle. A nursing
sister appeared and stared the parents in the eye. She handed
them a ballpen and instructed, “Sign here and here if you want to
save your daughter!”

Mr. Tang sheepishly complied while his wife remained
motionless. The nursing sister quickly added her signature and
stamped her name chop on the witness box of both forms. Then,
chasing after the bed, she slipped the signed forms into the folder
of medical records and placed it on top of the sheet covering
Ying. While Paul and two nurses continued the resuscitation and
the two porters pushed the bed, the entourage entered the lift,
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which was kept waiting by a third porter. Carl had already
sprinted up the stairs on his way to the operation theatre two
storeys above, to change into surgical attire and to scrub up for
the impending surgery.

Coming to their senses at last, the parents were directed to
another lift which would take them to the operating theatre.

As they were entering the lift, they suddenly heard loud voices
coming from inside the drawn curtain of the nearest cubicle. A
man’s voice was pleading frantically, “Please! Please save
him….”

At the same time, a woman was wailing, “He’s only a child,
please bring him back! Are we too late?”

These voices were shut off abruptly by the lift doors. Inside the
steel box, Mr. Tang stood trembling as he clutched tightly onto
the handrail. Mrs. Tang leaned against the wall, her tears cutting
paths through her hastily applied face powder and rouge.

’
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